IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LUCIA CASTILLO, an individual, and EDWIN	000	Electronically Filed Aug 26 2016 04:14 p.m Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court
PRATTS, an individual,	Supreme Court No.	70151
Titili 12, all litari ladas,)District Court Case	
Appellants,	CV1500421	
)	
vs.)	
)	
UNITED FEDERAL CREDIT)	
UNION, a federal credit union		
)	
Respondent.)	
)	
)	

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Michael Lehners, Esquire Nevada Bar Number 003331 429 Marsh Ave. Reno, Nevada 89509 Telephone: (775) 786-1695 Telecopier: (775) 786-0799 Nathan R. Zeltzer, Esquire Nevada Bar No. 5173 12 W. Taylor Street Reno, Nevada 89509 Telephone: (775) 786-9993 Telecopier: (775) 329-7220

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

On October 27, 2015 the District Court entered its Order Granting Defendant United Federal Credit Union's Motion to Dismiss First Amended Complaint. Appellants' Excerpts of Record (herein "EOR") 110-113. On November 5, 2015 the Appellants filed a motion to Amend the District Court's Order dismissing the appellants' complaint pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. Pro. 59(e). EOR 123-129. That motion was denied by Order on March 17, 2016. EOR 196-200. The notice of appeal was filed on April 11, 2016 (EOR 201-202).

The District Court's October 27, 2016 motion dismissing the Plaintiffs' amended complaint is such a final order. This Court has jurisdiction to review the District Court's Order of Dismissal pursuant to Nev. R. App. Pro. 3(b)(1).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court. Nev. R. App. Pro. 17(a)(13) provides that the Supreme Court shall hear and decide matters raising as a principal issue a question of first impression involving the United States or Nevada constitution or common law. The legal issue of whether a Plaintiff's claim for statutory damages can be aggregated with a Defendant's claim for deficiency to meet the jurisdictional threshold has not been decided. The legal issue of whether each putative class member's claim can be aggregated to meet the jurisdictional threshold has also not been decided.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Class action suits are designed to allow representatives of a group of similarly situated people to sue on behalf of that class in order to obtain a judgment that will bind all. Thereby, class actions promote efficiency and justice in the legal system by reducing the possibilities that courts will be asked to adjudicate many separate suits arising from a single wrong. For these reasons, the overwhelming number of state appellate courts that have addressed the aggregation issue in a class context have allowed for aggregation.

The district courts have subject matter jurisdiction where the amount in controversy exceeds \$10,000. The amount in controversy is measured by the value of the object of the litigation. In this case the object of the litigation was the Respondent's repossession and sale of the Appellants' automobile. Respondent sought a deficiency of \$6,841.55. Appellants sought to enjoin the collection of this deficiency amount and they sought statutory damages of \$6,330.28. The amount in controversy was therefore \$13,171.83.

The district courts have exclusive subject matter jurisdiction over claims for injunctive relief. Where injunctive relief is sought in good faith, the district court has jurisdiction over all portions of the complaint, even if the damages sought fail to meet the district court's monetary jurisdictional threshold. In the district court, the Appellants sought to enjoin Respondent from collecting any

deficiency and to remove any adverse credit information which may have been wrongfully reported on the consumer reports of the class members.

IV. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- A. Did the District Court commit error in not aggregating the damages of individual class member damages in determining the jurisdictional threshold of District Court?
- B. Did the District Court commit error by failing to calculate both the Article Nine statutory damages and the injunctive relief that would prohibit Respondent from collecting its deficiency towards the District Court's monetary jurisdictional threshold?
- C. Did the District Court commit error by not to asserting original jurisdiction over all portions of the complaint, as it sought injunctive relief, even if the damages alleged failed to meet the District Court's monetary jurisdictional threshold?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of the dismissal of a class action based upon the lack of jurisdiction. The Appellants alleged Respondent's notice of sale of repossessed collateral violated both Article Nine of the Uniform Commercial Code and NRS 482.516. Appellants alleged they were entitled to statutory damages of \$6,330.28 for the alleged Article Nine violation and to enjoin Respondent from

attempting to collect its \$6,841.55 deficiency due to the alleged violation of NRS 482.516, for total relief of \$13,171.83. The Court ruled that the Appellants had failed to allege damages in excess of \$10,000.

VI. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Overview of Complaint

The instant action was brought by the Castillos against UFCU for violation of Nevada law concerning the repossession sale of automobiles under Article 9, Part VI of the Uniform Commercial Code ("UCC"), NRS 104.9614, and for violating the requirements of Nevada law with respect to retail installment sale contracts under NRS 482.516.

According to the allegations of the Castillo Complaint, as subsequently amended, on or about March 11, 2014, (EOR 36-57) the Castillos entered into a written retail installment sale contract ("RISC") to finance the purchase of a 2012 Kia Forte ("Castillo Vehicle") (Amended Complaint ¶14-15, EOR 39).

On December 18, 2014, UFCU repossessed the Castillo Vehicle (Complaint ¶16). The day after the repossession, UFCU sent or caused to be sent to the Castillos a written notice advising the Castillos of its intent to dispose of the Castillo Vehicle in purported compliance with the requirements of the UCC ("Notice of Sale").

In their Amended Complaint, the Castillos asserted that the Notice of Sale failed to comply with the UCC in the following respects:

- A. <u>Description of Liability for Deficiency</u> UFCU did not properly describe the liability of the Castillos for a deficiency, as required by NRS 104.9616; and
- B. Accounting UFCU did not disclose that the Castillos were entitled to an accounting on unpaid indebtedness and the charge, if any, for an accounting as required by NRS 104.9613(1)(d) and NRS 104.9614(1)(a).

In addition to the above deficiencies under the UCC, the Notice of Sale also failed to comply with NRS 482.516 in the following respects:

- A. <u>Failure to Disclose Location of Vehicle</u> UFCU failed to disclose the place at which the Castillo Vehicle would be returned to the Castillos upon redemption or reinstatement in contravention of NRS 482.516(2)(d); and
- B. <u>Designation of Redemption/Reinstatement Payee</u> UFCU failed to designate the name and address of the person to whom payment must be made for redemption or reinstatement in contravention of NRS 482.516(2)(e).

B. Description of Statutory Damages Claim of Class

In the Amended Complaint, the Castillos requested statutory damages for themselves and all members of the class under the UCC pursuant to NRS

104.9625(3)(b). Under the UCC, statutory minimum damages are computed by adding the "credit service charge" or "time price differential" (i.e., the finance charge) and ten (10%) percent of the "principal amount of debt" (i.e., amount financed) or "cash price." The statutory damages are based on the finance charge and the amount financed at the beginning of the transaction, not the interest and principal remaining due at the time of the violation. As a result, the statutory damages can be significant. See, e.g., Muro v. Hermano's Auto Wholesalers, Inc., 514 F. Supp.2d 1343, 1352 (S.D. Fla. 2007) [statutory damages in excess of \$9,000.00]; In Re: Koresko, 91 B.R. 689 (Bkrpt. E.D. Penn. 1988) [statutory damages awarded in an amount of \$14,289.03 for lack of notice of sale with respect to a \$22,000.00 dollar vehicle].

C. Description of Claim for Injunctive Relief

Under the Amended Complaint, the Castillos also alleged that UFCU had unlawfully collected or attempted to collect deficiency balances from consumers using defective post-repossession notices without legal authority under NRS 482.516 and without accounting for a set-off in the amount of statutory damages set forth under NRS 104.9625(3)(b). In addition to the unlawful collection or attempt to collect deficiency balances from consumers, UFCU maintained a practice and policy of reporting to the three national consumer reporting agencies, to-wit: Equifax Credit Information Services, Inc., Experian, Inc., and

TransUnion, LLC (hereinafter referred to collectively as the "CRAs") derogatory information concerning the Class Representatives and members of the class which failed to account for the statutory presumption and/or the set-off for statutory damages described in the Amended Complaint (Amended Complaint ¶ 30).

In the Amended Complaint, the Castillos alleged that the Castillos and the members of the class did not have an adequate remedy at law with respect to the continued collection and/or reporting of materially inaccurate adverse credit information to the CRAs (Amended Complaint ¶ 32). Accordingly, the Castillos sought injunctive relief against UFCU to proscribe further collection and reporting activities (Amended Complaint ¶ 32-37).

D. Entry of Dismissal Order

On October 27, 2015 the District Court entered its Order Granting Defendant United Federal Credit Union's Motion to Dismiss First Amended Complaint (EOR 110-113). On November 5, 2015 the Appellants filed a motion to Amend the District Court's Order pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. Pro. 59(e) (EOR 123-129). That motion was denied by Order on March 17, 2016 (EOR 196-200). The notice of appeal was filed on April 11, 2016 (EOR 201-202).

VII. ARGUMENT

- A. THE DISTRICT COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN NOT AGGREGATING THE DAMAGES OF INDIVIDUAL CLASS MEMBERS IN DETERMINING THE JURISDICTIONAL THRESHOLD OF DISTRICT COURT.
- 1. The claim of the Class rather than the individual class members should be used to determine the jurisdiction of the District Court.

The entire issue of the "amount in controversy" has been mis-perceived by the court below. In the dismissal order, the Court stated:

The Opposition avers the Plaintiffs satisfy the jurisdictional requirement because the amount in controversy for class actions is measured in the aggregate. The Opposition relies of the Class Action Fairness Act CAFA), 28 U.S.C. §1332. The Opposition cites various federal cases to the Court relying upon CAFA to support the argument that the Plaintiffs may aggregate their damages to satisfy the jurisdictional amount. The Opposition limits of federal diversity further notes CAFA expanded jurisdiction. The Opposition correctly notes the Supreme Court of Nevada "has not addressed the issue of whether class member claims can be aggregated to satisfy the jurisdiction requirement for the District Court." The Opposition 4:26-27. The Court finds a review of the record does not reflect an order certifying a class action may be maintained. Accordingly, the Plaintiffs' claim will be addressed as an independent cause of action.

(Italicized in the original) EOR 111, lines 6-15.

The District Court failed to recognize that the claim to be adjudicated is that of the *Class*: the hundreds if not thousands of persons who have had their rights as consumers violated as a result of the post-repossession practices of UFCU. The claim is not of any single person. Rather, it is a class of the consumers whose claim is being asserted. The Representative Plaintiffs are just that: "representatives" of the consumer class.

The misdirection of the focus on the part of the District Court is linked inextricably to the finding that "a review of the record does not reflect an order certifying a class action may be maintained." As such, the flawed logic of the District Court rejected aggregation as an appropriate means to maintaining jurisdiction. Whether or not aggregation is appropriate depends upon whether the plaintiffs have "distinct and separate interests" or whether the plaintiffs are "claimants under a common right." The Class Members in this action claim under a common right based on being subjected to a single institutionalized practice of the lender in using non-compliant repossession forms. Commonality has been well-pled and fully described in the Amended Complaint. The common right to be vindicated arises from the consistent course of business conduct that UFCU deprived members of the Class of their statutory rights under Nevada law.

2. The legal analysis of other states supporting aggregation is persuasive.

This Court has not addressed the issue of whether class member claims can be aggregated to satisfy the jurisdictional requirement for District Court. However, the overwhelming number of state appellate courts that have addressed the aggregation issue have allowed for aggregation. *Thomas v. Liberty National Life Ins.Co.*, 368 So.2d 254 (Ala.1979) (aggregation permitted); *Judson School v. Wick*, 494 P.2d 698 (Ariz.1972) (aggregation permitted); *Paley v. Coca-Cola Co.*, 209 N.W. 2d 232 (Mich. 1973); *Fillmore v. Leasecomm Corp*, 18 Mass.L.Rptr. 560, (Mass. Super. 2004) ["no blanket prohibition against aggregation"]; *Johnson v. Plantation Gen.Hosp.*, 641 So.2d 58 (Fla.1994) (aggregation permitted); *contra, Lamar v. Office of Sheriff of Daviess County*, 669 S.W. 2d 27 (Ky.App. 1984).

The decisions refusing to permit aggregation generally do so with little analysis other than citing the federal diversity jurisdiction decisions of *Snyder v. Harris*, 394 US 332 (1969) and *Zahn v. Int'l Paper Company*, 414 US 291, 95 S.Ct. 505 (1973). See, e.g., *Lamar*, 669 S.W. 2d at 31. In *Zahn*, the United States Supreme Court held that in a federal class action *based on diversity* of citizenship, each class member must satisfy the jurisdictional amount in that their claims may not be aggregated to meet the jurisdictional requirement. *Id.* at

301. In arriving at this conclusion, the Court was governed by the historic construction of the "matter in controversy" component of 28 U.S.C. §1332(a), which sets forth the requirements of federal court *diversity* jurisdiction. *Id.* at 292-94. In the opinion, the United States Supreme Court reviewed a long line of cases that had restrictively construed the statutes defining federal court jurisdiction. This historic construction of the federal jurisdictional statutes compelled the Court's conclusion that individual claims based upon *diversity* may not be aggregated for jurisdictional purposes.

The underlying premise of *Zahn* is that the federal district courts are courts of limited jurisdiction. In diversity cases, Congress sought to control the case load of the federal courts and leave to state courts of general jurisdiction those cases falling outside limited congressional criteria. In contrast, state courts have a different jurisdictional genesis and criteria than federal courts, and are not bound by the congressional intent that prevents aggregation of claims presented to federal courts under diversity theory.

The question presented here (unlike that in a federal court system) is not whether the case can be brought at all, but whether a potentially multi-million dollar litigation should be brought in the "greater" court because of its aggregate size, or in the "lesser" court because aggregate size is the product of hundreds or thousands of small individual claimants. The compelling force of

reason is that the district courts are better equipped to handle the large and more complicated matters, which would certainly include a class action, and that the justice courts are to handle smaller and less complicated disputes. As stated by one court:

The class action rule contemplates a single judgment, not hundreds or thousands of judgments for each individual claim . . . [G]iven the purpose of the class action procedure and the size and complexity of the usual class action, we concluded that the class action rule contemplates that the amount of the claim of the entire class determines the dollar amount jurisdiction. Our circuit courts are designed to hear such complex cases; our county courts are not. If the aggregated individual claims do not exceed the \$15,000 jurisdictional amount, the class action belongs in county court. If it exceeds the circuit court threshold, it belongs in circuit court.

Galen of Florida, Inc. v. Arscott, 629 So.2d 856, 857 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993); see also, Hernando County v. Moran, 979 So.2d 276 (Fla. 5th DCA 2008)

It is respectfully urged that the decisions and analysis of sister states that have considered this issue should be persuasive on this Court. In *Judson School*, *supra*, the Arizona Supreme Court held that it was not bound by federal case law concerning aggregation of claims for class actions. The Arizona Supreme Court recognized that limited jurisdiction of federal courts was one of the most basic distinctions between federal and state court jurisdiction. As in the case below, the Defendant raised the same issue of aggregation. In relying on aggregation for jurisdictional purposes, the Arizona Supreme Court stated:

Were we to hold that claims less than \$200 cannot be aggregated in Arizona, there would be no forum where class actions potentially involving millions of dollars and hundreds, possibly thousands of parties could find effective relief. A justice of the peace court clearly is not equipped to handle the serious legal questions frequently posed by a suit on a small claim which should be determinative of the rights of many and it becomes either impossible or it is improvident for one litigant alone to absorb the enormous expense of prosecuting his claim or defending his position.

Judson School, 494 P.2d at 699

In permitting claims of less than \$200 to be aggregated to satisfy jurisdiction, the Arizona Court examined *Snyder v. Harris*, 394 U.S. 332 (1969), which was a precursor to *Zahn*. In Snyder, the United States Supreme Court observed that the congressional purpose of the "matter in controversy" statute was to limit the federal court caseload. *Snyder* at 339-41. The Court further observed that "suits involving issues of state law and brought on the basis of diversity of citizenship can often most appropriately tried in state courts." *Id.* at 341 (emphasis added). Because of the strict statutory requirement, the U.S. Supreme Court held that individual claims could not be aggregated to satisfy the jurisdictional amount for a class action suit based on diversity of citizenship. This is clearly distinguished from jurisdiction based upon federal issues of law where no dollar barrier pertains to class actions.

Indeed, the whole concept of higher and lower trial court jurisdiction based upon the amount in controversy is totally absent from the federal jurisprudence.

The Arizona Supreme Court held *Snyder* did not apply in state court proceedings. *Judson School*, 494 P.2d at 699. According to the Court, the United States Supreme Court intended *Snyder* to result in more cases being tried in state courts. The Arizona Court rejected the notion that just because the legislature had adopted the federal Rule 23 into a state rule of procedure did not mean that Arizona had to adopt all federal law concerning the rule's limitations. *Id*.

The reasoning of the Alabama, Michigan and Florida courts is also instructive. The rationale of the Alabama court was that where the legislature had not shown intent to divest trial courts of jurisdiction in class suits, and where there was a concomitant presumption against the divestiture of jurisdiction from the higher court to the lower court, aggregation is appropriate. *Liberty National*, 368 So.2d at 254. Similarly, the Michigan Supreme Court upheld aggregation as it found that class action suits were historically in equity and equitable principles justify aggregation. *Paley*, 209 N.W. 2d at 234-37.

Subsequent to *Paley*, the Michigan Supreme Court expanded on its holding on aggregation in *Dix v. American Banker's Life Assurance Co.*, 415

N.W. 2d 206 (Mich. 1987). Focusing on the rational underlying the federal diversity jurisdiction cases, the *Dix* Court stated:

In contrast with litigants in a diversity action in the federal courts, litigants seeking to maintain a class action in state court would have no further recourse if they are not allowed to bring a class action somewhere in the state court system. The rationale for not allowing an aggregation of the federal courts is not applicable at the state level.

Id. at 210.

In the Alabama case, *Thomas v. Liberty National Life Ins. Co.*, 368 So.2d 254 (Ala. 1979), the claims of policy holders for interest on the face amounts of their individual insurance polices were all less than the \$500 jurisdictional threshold of the trial court of general jurisdiction. In holding that the action should be reinstated in the higher trial court, the Alabama Supreme Court stated:

We find that, where the various statutes govern the jurisdiction of the district court and the circuit court are read together, there is no clear and unequivocal showing of an intent by the legislature to divest the circuit court of subject matter jurisdiction in class actions. This is true whether or not any individual plaintiff can recover the minimum \$500 jurisdictional amount, so long as the aggregate claim of the plaintiff class is in excess of \$500. The district court system was not established, nor is it equipped, to handle the complexities of a class action . . .

Id. at 257.

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