# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

#### \*\*\*\*\*

LUCIA CASTILLO, an individual and EDWIN PRATTS an individual

Appellants,

vs.

UNITED FEDERAL CREDIT UNION, a federal credit union

Respondent.
AND ALL RELATED CASES

SUPREME COUR Flectropically Filed NO.: 70151 Oct 26 2016 04:31 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court Appeal From Second Judicial District Court District Court Case No.: CV1500421

(Honorable Elliott Sattler, District Court Judge)

## **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

# HOWARD & HOWARD ATTORNEYS PLLC

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

#### VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT.

Appellants/Plaintiffs' ("Plaintiffs") First Amended Complaint fails to allege facts that demonstrate that the District Court had jurisdiction over the dispute. Even if the Plaintiffs prevail on all of their claims, their recovery from Respondent/Defendant United Federal Credit Union will be well below the current \$10,000 jurisdictional limit of the District Court. The District Court correctly dismissed Plaintiffs First Amended Complaint because plaintiffs may not aggregate their individual claims to satisfy the minimum jurisdictional limits of Nevada's District Courts. Rule 23 of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure does not alter the means by which courts determine the amount in controversy.

Any change to the jurisdictional limits of Nevada's Justice and District Courts is reserved to the Nevada Legislature under the Nevada Constitution. The District Court and this Court are not the proper forums to change the minimum jurisdictional limits of the Nevada District Court. The Nevada Legislature's recent amendment of NRS 4.370 which does not allow class action plaintiffs to

motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment. *Branch v. Tunnell*, 14 F.3d 449, 454 (9th Cir. 1994).

aggregate claims is dispositive of the issue before the Court. Until the Legislature enacts legislation that enables class action plaintiffs to aggregate their claims, they may not do so.

State courts that have examined the issue of aggregation are split on the issue of allowing aggregation. Those that refused to permit aggregation followed well settled common law that plaintiffs may not ride on each other's coattails to satisfy the jurisdictional limits of the court; they must each stand on their own. The cases cited by Plaintiffs are result oriented decisions that are distinguishable from the case at bar. In some cases, the Plaintiffs would not have had a forum to address their grievances, so aggregation was permitted. One Court relied on the legislative comments that expressly stated that aggregation was to be permitted. One court chose to enact policy which would violate the separation of powers doctrine under Nevada law.

In an attempt to establish subject matter jurisdiction, Plaintiffs sought to combine two of their claims together. Each of the claims was under the threshold of the District Court. Under the double recovery rule, there can only be one award of damages for a plaintiff's injury. This is true even if a plaintiff asserts multiple causes of action that are plausible. The District Court correctly refused to stack two of Plaintiffs claims for damages together to meet the minimum subject matter jurisdiction. Plaintiffs raise for the first time on appeal that they and the proposed class members are claimants under a common right. Their failure to raise that issue below can preclude them from asserting it in this Court. Even if this Court entertains that argument, they are not claimants under a common right. That status is reserved for individuals who have a joint interest in the *res* of the litigation, for example claims to a parcel of real estate. Plaintiffs and the class have distinct individual claims for alleged breaches of Article 9. They are not claimants under a common right.

Plaintiffs' final argument is that the District Court had jurisdiction over this matter because they claim they are entitled to injunctive relief. When reviewing complaints that are challenged under Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 21(b)(1), Nevada's courts look to see if the causes of action were alleged in good faith. They may disregard allegations that are merely presented to maintain jurisdiction. Although Plaintiff pled injunctive relief, they are not entitled to it because they have an adequate remedy at law. They are also not entitled to relief because all they seek is an "obey the law" injunction, which are not permitted.

The District Court correctly dismissed Plaintiffs First Amended Complaitn. This Court should affirm the District Court's dismissal of the First Amended Complaint because Plaintiffs do satisfy the minimum jurisdictional limits of the District court.

#### VII. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint ("FAC") fails to allege facts that demonstrate that the District Court had jurisdiction over the dispute. Even if the Plaintiffs prevail on all of their claims, their award will be well below the jurisdictional limit of the District Court. Any change to the jurisdictional limit of Nevada's District Courts is reserved to the Nevada Legislature. This Court is not the proper forum to effectuate such change. Additionally, Plaintiffs may not stack their claims together to meet the jurisdictional minimum of the District Court because they may not double recover damages. Moreover, Plaintiffs claims for injunctive relief fail because they seek monetary damages. This Court should therefore affirm the District Court's dismissal of the FAC.

#### A. Standard of Review for Motions to Dismiss.

The Nevada Supreme Court reviews a district court's order granting a motion to dismiss under "a rigorous, de novo standard of review." *Slade v. Caesars Entm't Corp.*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 36, 373 P.3d 74, 78 (2016). Nevada law holds that a complaint should be dismissed for failure to state a claim "only if it appears beyond a doubt that [the plaintiff] could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle the plaintiff to relief." *Id*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 36, 373 P.3d at 78 (internal punctuation omitted).

# 1. <u>A Challenge to Subject Matter Jurisdiction Shifts the Burden of</u> <u>Proof to the Plaintiff</u>.

"[S]ubject matter jurisdiction cannot be waived and may be raised at any time, or *sua sponte* by a court of review." *Vaile v. Dist. Court*, 118 Nev. 262, 276, 44 P.3d 506, 516 (2002). Rule 12(b)(1) of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure ("N.R.C.P.") allows defendants to file a motion to dismiss claims for a lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Although the defendant is the moving party, the plaintiff is the party invoking the court's jurisdiction. The plaintiff therefore bears the burden of proving that the court has subject matter jurisdiction over the pending case. *Morrison v. Beach City LLC*, 116 Nev. 34, 36-37, 991 P.2d 982, 983 (2000) (*citing Nelson v. Keefer*, 451 F.2d 289 (3d Cir.1971);<sup>3</sup> 2 James Wm. Moore et al., *Moore's Federal Practice* § 12.30 [5] (3d ed.1999) 15 *Moore's Federal Practice* § 102.107).

A defendant may attack the existence of subject matter jurisdiction not only on the face of the pleadings, but also with evidence extrinsic to the pleadings. *Mortenson v. First Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n*, 549 F.2d 884, 891 (9th Cir. 1979). Dismissal under Rule 12(b)(1) is appropriate if the complaint, considered in its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The cited federal cases dismiss the claims based on Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1), the federal counterpart to Nevada's Rule 12(b)(1). "[F]ederal decisions involving the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provide persuasive authority when this court examines its rules." *Foster v. Dingwall*, 126 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 228 P.3d 453, 456 (2010) (quoting *Nelson v. Heer*, 121 Nev. 832, 834, 122 P.3d 1252, 1253 (2005)).

entirety, fails to allege sufficient facts to establish that the court has subject matter jurisdiction over the dispute. *In re Dynamic Random Access Memory (DRAM) Antitrust Litig.*, 546 F.3d 981, 984–85 (9th Cir. 2008).

#### 2. For Rule 12(b)(1) Motions, Nevada Uses the Legal Certainty Test.

Nevada adopted the "legal certainty" test "for determining the jurisdictional amount in controversy in Nevada district courts." *Morrison*, 116 Nev. at 38, 991 P.2d at 984. In order to dismiss a case for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, it must appear to a legal certainty that the claim is worth less than the jurisdictional amount. Id. The district court need not accept the allegations of the complaint as true and may conduct a hearing to determine whether the potential damages in a case fall below a jurisdictional threshold. Id. at 39, 991 P.2d at 985. "No presumptive truthfulness attaches to plaintiff's allegations, and the existence of disputed material facts will not preclude the trial court from evaluating for itself the merits of jurisdictional claims." Thornhill Publ'g Co. v. Gen. Tel. Elec., Inc., 594 F.2d 730, 733 (9th Cir. 1979). The Court should "look beyond the damages claimed, and evaluate whether those damages were claimed in good faith." *Morrison*, 116 Nev. at 37-38, 991 P.2d at 984.

# B. <u>The District Court Properly Refused to Aggregate the Claims of the</u> <u>Plaintiffs with the Potential Class Members to Satisfy its Jurisdictional</u> <u>Threshold</u>.

United filed its Motion to Dismiss the FAC because even if Plaintiffs prevailed, they would recover less than \$10,000. Record pp. 61-85. Plaintiffs responded to United's jurisdictional challenged by seeking to aggregate their claims with the claims of the potential class members.<sup>4</sup> Record pp. 85-94. In Snyder v. Harris, 394 U.S. 332, 89 S.Ct. 1053, 22 L.Ed.2d 319 (1969) abrogated by 28 U.S.C. § 1332, The Class Action Fairness Act ("CAFA") the United States Supreme Court considered whether, in light of the 1966 amendments to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, class action plaintiffs could aggregate their claims to satisfy the minimum jurisdictional limits of the district courts. Snyder holds that plaintiffs and class members cannot aggregate their claims to satisfy the jurisdictional limits of the district courts. Snyder, 394 U.S. at 336-38 89 S. Ct. 1057-58; see also In re Ford Motor Co./Citibank (South Dakota), N.A., 264 F.3d 952, 957 (9th Cir. 2001).<sup>5</sup>

The doctrine that separate and distinct claims could not be aggregated was never, and is not now, based upon the categories of old Rule 23 or of any rule of procedure. That doctrine is based rather upon this Court's interpretation of the statutory phrase 'matter in controversy.' The interpretation of this phrase as precluding aggregation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Due to the procedural posture of the case, the Plaintiffs had not yet moved for class certification.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Under CAFA which was enacted in 2005, class action plaintiffs are expressly permitted to aggregate their claims in federal court. To date, the Nevada Legislature has not enacted similar legislation for the Nevada courts.

substantially predates the 1938 Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. In 1911 this Court said in *Troy bank v. G. A. Whitehead & Co.*:

'When two or more plaintiffs, having separate and distinct demands, unite for convenience and economy in a single suit, it is essential that the demand of each be of the requisite jurisdictional amount \* \* \*.'

*Snyder*, 394 U.S. 332, 336, 89 S. Ct. 1053, 1057, (*quoting Troy Bank*, 222 U.S. 39, 40, 32 S.Ct. 9, 56 L.Ed. 81 (1911)). The *Snyder Court* rejected the notion that the 1966 amendments to Rule 23 were intended to effect, or effected, any change in the meaning and application of the jurisdictional-amount requirement insofar as class actions are concerned. *Snyder* also holds that when Congress sets the jurisdictional limit of the courts, the Supreme Court of the United States may not interpret the Rules of Civil Procedure to expand jurisdiction by allowing aggregation of claims *Id.* at 338, 89 S. Ct. at 1057. *Snyder* reaffirmed the well established rule that to survive a motion to dismiss, *each plaintiff* must have claims that satisfy the minimum jurisdictional requirement of the court. *Zahn v. Int'l Paper Co.*, 414 U.S. 291, 300, 94 S. Ct. 505, 511, 38 L. Ed. 2d 511 (1973) *abrogated* by CAFA.

Nevada agrees with the concept of not allowing aggregation of claims to satisfy the minimum jurisdiction of Nevada Courts. This Court holds that when determining the "amount in controversy," courts must ignore amounts sought for attorneys' fees and costs. *Morrison*, 116 Nev. at 36, 991 P.2d at 983. It also holds

that when a court concludes to a legal certainty that a plaintiff cannot recover the amount of damages necessary to establish jurisdiction, dismissal for want of jurisdiction is appropriate. *Id.*, at 38, 991 P.2d at 984. Additionally, courts agree that plaintiffs may not aggregate punitive damage claims to meet the minimum jurisdictional limits of a court. *In re Ford Motor Co./Citibank (South Dakota), N.A.*, 264 F.3d 952, 963 (9th Cir. 2001) ("all of the circuits that have considered the question now have answered in the negative.").

This Court has not ruled whether proposed class plaintiffs can aggregate their individual claims with the class under N.R.C.P. 23. The United States Supreme Court has. It holds that "each plaintiff in a Rule 23(b)(3) class action must satisfy the jurisdictional amount, and any plaintiff who does not must be dismissed from the case—one plaintiff may not ride in on another's coattails." *Zahn*, 414 U.S. at 301, 94 S. Ct. at 512 (internal punctuation omitted). "[F]ederal decisions involving the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provide persuasive authority when this court examines its rules." *Foster*, 126 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 228 P.3d at 456.

The holdings of *Snyder* and *Zahn* were abrogated by CAFA. CAFA allows class action plaintiffs in federal court to aggregate their claims. Despite being in session for multiple times since CAFA was enacted, the Nevada Legislature has not enacted similar legislation. The holdings of *Snyder* and *Zahn* reaffirm the well

settled law of how "matters in controversy" are calculated. This Court follows the rule set forth in *Snyder* and *Zahn. See, Morrison*, 116 Nev. at 36, 991 P.2d at 983 (attorney's fees and costs cannot be aggregated with claims to increase the amount in controversy). Any change or interpretation of N.R.C.P. 23 that effects a change in the definition of 'matter in controversy' would clearly conflict with well settled law and with N.R.C.P. 82 which states: "(t)hese rules shall not be construed to extend or limit the jurisdiction of the district courts or the venue of the actions therein." This Court should affirm the District Court's dismissal of the complaint and hold, that N.R.C.P. 23 does not allow plaintiffs to aggregate claims to satisfy the minimum jurisdictional limit of Nevada's District Courts.

# C. <u>Under the Separation of Powers Doctrine, the Jurisdictional Threshold</u> of Nevada Courts May Only be altered by the Nevada Legislature.

Pursuant to N.R.C.P. 82, the N.R.C.P. do not extend, limit or affect the jurisdiction of Nevada's District Courts. The structure of Nevada's courts are enumerated in Article 6 of the Nevada Constitution. The Nevada Constitution is the "supreme law of the state," which "control[s] over any conflicting statutory provisions." *Clean Water Coal v. The M Resort, LLC*, 127 Nev. 301, 309, 255 P.3d 247, 253 (2011) (*quoting Goldman v. Bryan*, 106 Nev. 30, 37, 787 P.2d 372, 377 (1990)).

Pursuant to Article 6 § 9 of the Nevada Constitution, the Nevada Legislature sets "the limits of the[] civil and criminal jurisdiction" of the Justice Courts. Pursuant to Article 6 § 6 of the Nevada Constitution, the jurisdictional limits of Nevada's District Courts include "all cases excluded by law from the original jurisdiction of justices' courts." *Id.* When it sets the jurisdictional limits of the Justice Courts, the Nevada Legislature also sets the jurisdictional limits of the District Courts.

"The separation of powers; the independence of one branch from the others; the requirement that on[e] department cannot exercise the powers of the other two is fundamental in our system of government." *Galloway v. Truesdell*, 83 Nev. 13, 422 P.2d 237 (1967). Judicial power arises from the judicial powers and functions granted to Nevada's courts in the Nevada Constitution. *Galloway*, 83 Nev. at 20, 422 P.2d at 242–43. "[J]udicial power, and the exercise thereof by a judicial function, cannot include a power or function that must be derived from the basic Legislative or Executive powers." *Id.* at 21, 422 P.2d at 243. "The judicial department may not invade the legislative and executive province." *Dunphy v. Sheehan*, 92 Nev. 259, 265, 549 P.2d 332, 336 (1976) (*citing State v. District Court*, 85 Nev. 485, 457 P.2d 217 (1969)).

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